1959

# William T. Marsh v. Dr. Paul A. Pemberton : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### NATURE OF THE CASE

This suit was brought by the appellant, William T. Marsh, against the respondent, Dr. Paul A. Pemberton, to recover damages resulting from the negligent treatment and care of the appellant in connection with the performance of a triple arthrodesis on appellant's left foot, and it was further claimed and proved by the appellant that the respondent was negligent in the post-operative treatment of appellant's condition. Respondent's negligence consisted in applying the cast too tightly without making adequate provision for anticipated swelling causing impairment of circulation, in delaying

to split the cast and remove it to relieve the continuing impairment, and in failing to take appropriate corrective measures during the post-operative care. As a result of the negligence of the respondent, appellant suffered permanent injury and disability in his left foot.

At the conclusion of the evidence, the respondent moved the court for a directed verdict which was later amended to be a motion for involuntary dismissal with prejudice, and the court granted the motion, from which order of the trial court this appeal has been taken by the appellant.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

For convenience the appellant will hereafter in this brief be referred to as the plaintiff and the respondent will be designated as the defendant.

Inasmuch as the ruling of the trial court was grounded upon a claimed insufficiency of evidence to establish the negligence of the defendant, we shall set forth in summary for the convenience of the court the testimony of the lay witnesses and of the doctors showing such negligence.

As a guide to the court in considering the evidence, we desire to point out at the outset that the tightness of the cast caused the necrosis, or death of some of the tissues in the foot, and damage to the mechanism of the foot, and that the five cardinal danger signals of impairment of circulation as described by the defendant are: (1) pain; (2) swelling; (3) color of the toes—bluish or

dark red; (4) inability to move the toes; and (5) numbness in the toes. (R. 136, 164, 165, 166, 171, 172, 173, 174)

The operation performed on the plaintiff by the defendant was a triple arthrodesis, which means a fusing of the three joints in the foot. (R. 113)

William T. Marsh, the plaintiff, a young married man 23 years of age, injured his left foot in a skiing accident several years ago. He consulted a Dr. VanSicklin about a year after the accident, who surgically removed a chip of bone from the foot. The plaintiff, after the operation, developed arthritic complications in his foot.

On May 17, 1954, he first consulted Dr. Pemberton. (R. 23) Dr. Pemberton took x-rays and examined the plaintiff and told him if he wanted to live a normal life and be able to work and hunt and fish and do everything he had done before without pain whatsoever that he would need an operation. The operation was described as a simple one which would require casting for about three months, and after that the plaintiff would be as good as new. He was admitted to the St. Mark's Hospital on December 18, (Ex. 1 and 2) and operated on the morning of December 20, 1954.

When he first woke up from the operation his ankle was "awfully painful." (R. 29) The pain stayed about the same right at first, but started to increase after a while. He first noticed this the night of the operation, or the next morning. He made frequent complaints to the nurses. The morning following the operation, he continued to have pain in his ankle and it was greater than

the afternoon before. He complained quite often to the nurses about the pain for the reason that the other fellows in his ward didn't seem to be having as much pain as he was having, yet as far as he knew they had had the same nature of operation. He noticed on the afternoon following the operation that his toes, extending out of the end of the cast, started swelling up and turned a little reddish-blue, and on the following morning his toes were more swollen and turned bluer in color. One of the interns was in there every two or three hours, and the nurses were in and out quite often. (R. 30-31) Usually after a hypo he would go to sleep for two or three hours and upon awakening he would still have the same pain in his foot as before the hypo. (R. 32)

The day following the operation he was conscious most of the day, but still had a great deal of pain all of the time. His toes were swollen and a bit different in color, and his toes were numb. (R. 33) The numbness continued throughout his stay in the hospital and the swelling and discoloration of the toes increased on each day following the operation. Dr. Lamb, at 6:30 in the morning on the 22nd day of December, examined his toes and squeezed them and inquired if plaintiff could feel anything. Plaintiff said no, and either Dr. Lamb or his associate took a needle and pricked his big toe and he could not feel it, and that is when they decided to split the cast, at least they were talking about it then. The doctor asked him about the pain he was having and plaintiff described it as a bursting feeling like a lot of pressure was building up inside of the cast, pushing out. The pain was greater than it had been the evening before. It was a steady pain.

It was about two hours later when they came back in to split the cast. (R. 34-35) (Ex. 1) When the cast was split, it popped open like there was an awful lot of pressure inside. They opened up maybe an inch and a half down toward the ankle. The splitting of the cast somewhat relieved the pain at first and it relieved the awful pressure, although plaintiff continued to have pain after that all of the time. The cast was opened wide enough to expose the area where the incision had been made. (R. 36)

He was confined to his bed throughout his stay at the hospital, but on the last day was fitted with crutches. At the time of his discharge, he still had pain in his foot, but felt pretty good other than that. He told Dr. Pember-ton that he still had pain in his foot and had had all of the time. He was told that pain was to be expected for a while after an operation of that kind. (R. 37-38) Upon arriving at home, he walked on crutches into the house and went right to bed. He had been instructed to stay in bed a few more days with his foot elevated. He carried out the instructions. Two weeks later he went up to the defendant's office and his cast was taken right off and another cast put back on. (R. 39) The whole foot looked awfully dark in color. On his previous operation performed by Dr. VanSickle, the incision appeared normal to him, but in this case there was some darkness of the foot. It was a brownish color. He was told to report back in two weeks. (R. 40) On the occasion of his next visit about two weeks later, the cast was again taken off, the bandage removed and there was a big, gaping wound. His foot had turned darker in color—almost black. The wound looked like it was deteriorated and was



draining a little pus. (R. 41) There was an odor when the cast was taken off. He asked the doctor if it was natural for his foot to look like that, and he would just say a few words, but nothing pertaining to it. The doctor gave no explanation for the condition. The doctor cut some dead tissue away, dressed the wound, and put another cast on. He took no x-ray pictures, nor did he manipulate the leg. (R. 42) The leg or foot remained painful all of the time, a dull, aching pain. There was a little sensation in his toes. Plaintiff was told to stay off his foot and continue with crutches which he did. He never departed from the instructions. He returned two weeks later. A bad odor developed about the cast. (R. 43) On that occasion the cast was changed again, a new dressing applied to the wound and more tissue cut away from it. The wound was still open with dead tissue around it. It was pretty much the same. When he asked the doctor about it, he got the same answer as before. (R. 44) The doctor just didn't seem to want to talk to him about it. The plaintiff was told to remain off his foot. He saw the doctor again in another couple of weeks. The odor was still present. (R. 45)

The cast was changed on the plaintiff's leg about four or five times at intervals of about two weeks apart. Plaintiff was on crutches for about six months, although he had originally expected to be on them for three months. He carried out the doctor's instructions relative to not bearing weight on his foot, and finally in July of 1955, accompanied by his father, he called on the defendant and while he was seated just outside of the door his father asked the doctor what was wrong and why his foot was

in its then condition. "And the doctor didn't say too much." *Plaintiff's father asked if it could have been that the original cast got put on too tight and he (the defendant) said "it could have been."* (R. 47) At that time he was bearing weight on his foot, having been instructed to do so about two weeks previous, and the bone was sticking down through the bottom of his foot and the shoe would rub where the open wound was, and it was awfully hard to walk. He continued to have trouble bearing weight on his foot. It was like having a marble in his shoe and trying to walk on it. His toes were clawed and they would rub on the top of his shoe and would get sore. (R. 48) The plaintiff exhibited his foot to the jury, showing the clawing of the toes, the scarring of the soft tissue in the area of the incision, and the callus on the bottom of the foot where the bone protruded, which prior to the trial, of course, had been operated upon by Dr. Okleberry. (R. 49-50)

Dr. Okleberry cut some of the bony prominence off the bottom where the bone was sticking down, which somewhat improved his ability to bear weight on his foot. (R. 52) Notwithstanding the corrective operation by Dr. Okleberry, the plaintiff still has clawing of the toes, which rub the top of his shoe and get sore and callused, and the bottom of his foot where the bony prominence is sore all of the time when he is walking on it. Every step is painful. The more he walks on it, the more painful it gets. (R. 54) The plaintiff is limited in athletics and hunting and fishing. The left leg has become smaller than his right leg. (R. 55) He is unable to dance,

suffers mental anguish because of being limited in the use of his left lower extremity. (R. 56)

M. Thirl Marsh, the father of the plaintiff described the boy's condition previous to the Pemberton operation as giving the plaintiff some discomfort, but not a great deal. He also participated in about everything, had a heavy schedule in basketball and played regularly, although he complained sometimes after the games that his foot was tired. (R. 94) Prior to the operation, the witness visited with Dr. Pemberton in November of 1954. He told the doctor that the boy was not in serious trouble and he asked the doctor if there was any danger of complications from the operation. The doctor said it is not likely, that he had performed these operations quite often, had done many of them, and considered it a very simple one, that it was painful, but not of long duration. He said there was nothing to worry about.

The witness called on his son the evening following the operation on December 20th, and he was very much aware that the plaintiff was in considerable pain. He called on the plaintiff the following day late in the afternoon. The plaintiff complained that his pain was very severe. The witness noted the perspiration on the plaintiff's forehead. The toes protruding from the end of the cast were badly swollen and were a little dark and off color. (R. 97-98-99)

The toes on December 21st were swollen and dark. (R. 100) He called the afternoon of the day the cast was split and noted that the toes were still off color. (R. 101)

He was still suffering from pain on that day. (R 101) On two or three occasions during the post-operative treatment the witness visited with the doctor and inquired how the plaintiff was getting along, to which the doctor replied: "We are doing all we can. He is all right."

In the latter part of June or the first of July, the witness asked for a definite appointment with the defendant and had a 15 or 20 minute conference with him. (R. 103) During the conversation, he told the doctor point blank that they were very much concerned and that things weren't going well, and asked him why. And the defendant stated that complications had developed that he hadn't anticipated. The witness said: "Could that be the result—could this unsatisfactory condition be the result of the cast being placed on the leg too tight?" And he defendant said: "Yes, it could be." (R. 104) At the time of this last visit with Dr. Pemberton the witness described the wound as being exceptionally large and not healing well. There was a prominent protrusion through the bottom of the plaintiff's foot. During the month of May, the defendant advised the plaintiff to throw his crutches away and start walking on the foot. After the plaintiff began walking on his foot, it caused a lot of discomfort and there was a definite protrusion through the bottom of the foot. (R. 105) The witness noted a definite protrusion—"a knob" on the bottom of the foot before any callus or sore developed. (R. 106)

Mrs. Mary Marsh, mother to the plaintiff, testified that when they first called on Dr. Pemberton in May of 1954 he said it would not be a serious operation, but would

be painful. He said there wouldn't be any risk at all. It would be in a cast for a while, but after it was taken off he would be able to live a normal life, like any young boy. (R. 77-78)

She was in the ward when the plaintiff was returned from the operating room just before noon. (R. 80) She remained at the hospital on the day of the operation until 8:00 o'clock in the evening. Several times during the first day she felt his toes and they were swollen, but the plaintiff reported on feeling. The plaintiff complained continuously of terrific pain, and the witness asked the doctor if something could be done, and he said they were doing all they could. There was a little bit of red discoloration on the day of the operation and there was swelling of the toes. (R. 81) She saw him about 2:30 o'clock in the afternoon of the 21st. At that time he was complaining of pain, perspiration was standing out on his forehead. He was nauseated and complained that he didn't feel well. He said there was no feeling in his big toe. He also complained quite strongly about the pain, so the witness went to the nurse several times and asked if they could not do something, and they said they had given him a hypo, or would give him a hypo, and that is as far as it went. His toes were still discolored on the afternoon of the 21st and swollen. (R. 82)

She next visited the hospital on the 22nd in the afternoon, after the cast had been split. The toes were bluish and swollen. The patient still complained of pain, and his toes were still bluish in color on the 23rd (R. 83-84) There was still no noticeable change on the day of dis-

charge, over the previous day. They were instructed to return in two weeks to the doctor.

The witness went with the plaintiff on January 3rd. The patient was suffering a lot of pain. (R. 85) The pain was severe. He required pain pills every night so that he could sleep and was also given pain pills during the day. (R. 86)

On one of the visits when we asked the defendant what was causing the condition in the leg the defendant did not answer he just shook his head. (R. 88)

She knows of no occasion when the doctor's instructions were ever violated. (R. 89) At the time plaintiff stopped calling on the defendant, the witness described the flesh on his foot as having turned black. He was told that he could throw away his crutches and try to walk on his foot, and it was then that the bone in his foot dropped down. It was like walking on golf ball. (R. 90)

Exhibit 1, consisting of the hospital records, contained a note from the doctor on the operative record to the effect that the patient's condition was good throughout the operation. The hospital record showed that at 1:15 p.m. on December 20th (the day of the operation) the plaintiff complained of severe pain and thereafter hypos were given at approximately three hour intervals for pain.

The first notation of a visit by a doctor was 10:45 p.m. on December 20th. At midnight on the evening of the operation he complained of pain in the leg. Hypo was

given at midnight, and at 3:00 a.m. to relieve pain. Patient slept some, but was awake most of the night. At 8:15 and 11:50 a.m. hypos were given for pain. At 9:00 p.m. on December 21st, plaintiff's toes appeared quite red and somewhat swollen. The edges of the cast were snipped to relieve pressure. Hypo was given for pain at 10:00 p.m. At midnight he was awake, complaining of pain, and on December 22, 1954, at 1:15 a.m. he was given a hypo for pain. At 6:30 a.m. he complained of pain and sedative was given. Dr. Lamb was present. Dr. Lamb examined left toes—quite swollen—states he has no sense of feeling present. 8:30 a.m. a hypo is given for pain and the cast split open by Dr. Lamb to relieve pressure. Toes were blue color. Received some relief after opening of cast. However, at 12:15 p.m. another hypo was given for pain. At 2:45 he was able to move toes a little better and to feel better in the toes. At 6:00 a.m. on December 22nd the intern noted that the toes appeared to be cyanosed and swollen. At 12:25 a.m. on December 23rd he was given hypo for pain. At 7:00 a.m. he was given a hypo for pain and his left foot was still quite swollen and dark looking. Dr. Pemberton and Dr. Lamb visited and at 11:00 a.m. another hypo was given for pain. Plaintiff stated his cast felt extremely tight against the ankle area. At 2:15 another hypo given for pain. At 5:15 he was complaining of pain in left ankle, toes still swollen. At 5:55 hypo was given for pain. At 9:15 hypos were given for pain. Sedative was given. On December 24, 1954, at 12:15 a.m. hypo was given for pain. At 4:00 a.m. hypo was given for leg pain. Toes were edematous and swollen. The final notation in the nurse's record at 6:00 a.m. states that there was less edema in the toes, discoloration re-

mains about the same, unable to move toes much. Dr. Pemberton and Dr. Lamb visited. Discharged per wheel chair. (Ex. 1)

## DEFENDANT, DR. PEMBERTON

The defendant testified with respect to his training and qualifications as a specialist in the field of orthopedics. (R. 110-114) He noted that padding is required over bony prominences to keep the plaster from rubbing against the bone at the side of the ankle, for instance, and padding is required to allow for swelling after bone surgery. (R. 115) Padding is important because it allows space for swelling to occur and prevents friction of the cast. The padding is placed over the entire extremity to be covered by the cast, more padding being placed in the area where surgery is performed because swelling usually occurs at that point to the greatest degree.

“Q. What is going to eventuate in the event that there was an inadequate amount of padding; as swelling occurred what would be the result?

A. Excessive pressure on the soft tissues within the cast, which would result in impairment of circulation (R. 118), impairment of nutrition and increased pain.

Q. Now, why would impairment of circulation occur?

A. Because as it swells against an immovable layer, we will call the plaster, it gets tighter, and that tightness eventually will reach a point where it compresses the blood vessels, and compression of the blood vessels, of



course, has the result of impairment of circulation."

\* \* \*

- A. If the pressure is adequate it can stop the venous return of the blood from returning, but it cannot stop the arterial blood from going in." (R. 119)

*The swelling increases the pressure and the pressure increases the impairment so that both work against each other.*

"Mr. White: *And where the initial impairment occurs, because of excessive swelling or inadequate padding, or whatever the cause, when the initial impairment occurs it would then have a tendency, would it not, to become worse?*

"The Witness: Yes."

\* \* \*

- "Q. Now, when this impairment occurs to the point where it prevents the return of the blood through the veins, does that propose any threat to the soft tissues of the body in the area which is involved?

\* \* \*

- A. Yes.

- Q. What would you say that the nature of the threat be?

- A. As the circulation is impaired nutrition of the tissues is impaired.

- Q. What do you mean by that?

- A. The blood gives up oxygen and food to the cells.

- Q. What happens to the cells when that occurs?

- A. They die. That occurs after a long enough period.

Q. How long can the cells be deprived of nutrition and continue to live?

A. It varies with different types of tissue. \* \* \* In general, in an extremity we don't feel there is any impairment, as far as life is concerned, by leaving a tourniquet on for two or three hours." (R. 121.)

After three hours of impairment tissue death begins to occur. (R. 122) The stitching of the wound made during the operative procedure in itself slows down circulation. (R. 127) An adequate blood supply is necessary for healing, and an adequate blood supply is necessary to prevent infection.

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