1959

William T. Marsh v. Dr. Paul A. Pemberton : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR INVOLUNTARY DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE FAILED TO SHOW EITHER NEGLIGENCE OR PROXIMATE CAUSE.

The purpose of the triple arthrodesis operation was to form a solid joint in the foot and to do this, it was necessary not only to cut and form the ends of the bones but to fit them together with such precision that they would, if held in the same position and if expected healing occurred, fuse together in solid bony union.

This then is a delicate orthopedic surgical problem and the placement and maintenance of the foot in "one exact position" (R. 117), requires orthopedic knowledge and skill in the application of the protective padding and the wet plaster itself.

Because of his experience, the surgeon knows that there will be some swelling at the site of the operation. How much swelling is going to occur he can only estimate, because "it varies in different patients" (R. 135). How much padding, therefore, will be required can only be estimated and the undisputed evidence is that such estimates are made by the exercise of the judgment and the opinion of the surgeon in the light of the circumstances

of the case, the condition of the patient, the appearance of the operative site and all of the other medical and surgical factors which his training and perception disclose.

It is obvious, therefore, that whether a casting technique was properly performed in accordance with accepted orthopedic standards cannot be determined by laymen without the assistance of qualified medical experts. No expert was produced in this case concerning the technique of application of a plaster cast and not only that, the defendant was not even questioned concerning the amount of padding he used, the reasons for his decision to use this amount or the amount or method of application of the plaster material.

Plaintiff, therefore, is reduced, on this phase of the case, to attempting to prove negligence in the application of the cast by asserting that subsequent developments prove that the cast must have been applied too tightly.

The law has never presumed to judge a surgeon upon the basis of his result except in those cases so elemental in nature that a knowledge of medical science is not required to reach a decision. As stated in *Ewing v. Goode* (C.C.) 78 Fed. 442, which is one of the leading cases in medical-legal jurisprudence and which has been often quoted by this and other courts:

"The naked facts that defendant performed operations upon her eye, and that pain followed, and that subsequently the eye was in such a bad condition that it had to be extracted, established neither the neglect and unskillfulness of the treatment; nor the causal connection between it and the unfortunate event. A physician is not a warrantor of cures. If . . . a failure to cure were held to be evidence, however slight, of negligence on the part of the . . . surgeon causing the bad result, few would be courageous enough to practice the healing art, for they would have to assume financial liability for nearly all the 'ills that flesh is heir to'".

To the same effect is the decision of this Court in the case of *Baxter v. Snow*, 78 Utah 217, 2 P. 2d 257. In that case, the plaintiff claimed that he had hearing in his ear when he got in the doctor's chair, but when an instrument was inserted and then removed he felt a change in his hearing. Thereafter he could not hear through that ear and this, the plaintiff contended, showed prima facie negligence and called upon the defendant to go forward and establish his freedom from neglect.

This Court rejected such an argument, quoting with approval numerous cases from other jurisdictions.

Neither the jury, the trial court, nor this Court, is competent to say how much padding should be used by a

surgeon in the application of a cast following triple arthrodesis procedure. Even if, however, the courts were trained in such matters, plaintiff has not established any basis for a determination that the amount of padding used was insufficient for the simple reason that plaintiff totally failed to establish how much padding was used.

Additional evidence is found in the record which tends to show that the cast was not applied improperly. This evidence consists of the testimony of the defendant that if the cast had been applied too tightly at the outset, there would have been, very quickly, manifestations of difficulty and these would have occurred in the hours immediately following surgery. The defendant examined the hospital chart on the witness stand, and testified that he could find no indication that any such manifestations had been present.

No other medical expert was produced to examine the chart and to reach a different conclusion or to testify that the standard of care among orthopedic surgeons in this community required a different conclusion from the hospital chart.

We submit, therefore, that the evidence totally fails to establish any basis for a finding of negligence on the part of the defendant in the application of the plaster cast.

Plaintiff next contends that the defendant was negligent in delaying to split the cast although again, no medical expert was produced to testify, either upon the basis of hypothetical questions, the hospital chart or otherwise, that the circumstances that existed between the surgery and the morning of December 22, 1954, required a surgeon, in the exercise of accepted standards of care, to split the cast or to take other steps sooner than the defendant did.

Despite a repetitive and meticulous examination of the defendant as an adverse witness, plaintiff failed to overcome the fundamental theme of defendant's testimony that the surgeon should look for the physical factors of pain, excessive swelling, changes in color, increases in temperature, and subsequently, impairment of sensation and motor function. These factors, according to the undisputed testimony, must each be weighed carefully, having in mind when and to what extent they first appeared and how they progressed following their appearance. When, after such careful weighing, the total decision is that there is danger to the patient from an unusual impairment of circulation, then the surgeon must further utilize his judgment by weighing the danger of circulation impairment against the potential danger of destroying the position which he has so meticulously obtained through the original operative procedure.

No medical expert was produced to establish that there are other or additional factors to be considered, or that the defendant's use or interpretation of these factors was not in accordance with standards, or that the circumstances which existed were such that orthopedic practice required other or different measures from those utilized by the defendant.

Thus, a jury would have been required to speculate as to when the defendant should have split or removed the cast or to speculate whether some different, unmentioned or unspecified treatment should have been followed.

We submit that the postoperative care of a patient who has undergone orthopedic surgery of the kind here described "... depends upon complex scientific knowledge and cannot be ascertained by common lay knowledge ..."; and to submit a case to a jury upon such a record would have allowed "the jury to indulge in that type of speculation unpermitted by this or other courts generally." *Huggins v. Hicken* (Utah, 1957), 310 P. 2d 523; *Forrest v. Eason* (Utah, 1953), 261 P. 2d 178.

An analysis of the argument contained in the last few pages of plaintiff's brief shows it is bottomed on the repeated assertion that impairment of circulation results in necrosis, or tissue death, beginning after three hours, from which it is argued defendant, having knowledge of

such facts, was negligent in doing what he did or in failing to do what he should have done.

This assertion is typically stated in plaintiff's brief on pages 46 and 47, where it is said: "The defendant admitted that when the initial impairment (of circulation) occurs because of excessive swelling or inadequate padding, the impairment would have a tendency to become worse (R. 121). That after three hours of impairment the tissue death begins to occur (R. 122)." (Parenthesis added.)

This constitutes a spurious and unwarranted interpretation of the defendant's testimony found in the record beginning at the bottom of page 118. When read in its entirety, and when excerpts are not read out of context, it plainly and conclusively shows that defendant never conveyed any such meaning, conclusion or opinion as has been attributed to him by plaintiff in his brief.

Specifically, the Court's attention is directed to the fact that this portion of the defendant's testimony began with counsel asking the defendant to assume a fact which was never proved, i.e., that there was "an inadequate amount of padding" within a cast (R. 118). The defendant was then asked what would be the result if swelling occurred in such a situation.

The defendant replied: "Excessive pressure on the soft tissues within the cast, which would result in impairment of circulation, impairment of nutrition and increased pain."

The defendant then went on to say that as the swelling presses against "an immovable layer we will call the plaster, it gets tighter, and that tightness *eventually* will reach a point where it compresses the blood vessels and compression of the blood vessels, of course, has the result of impairment of circulation." (Emphasis added) (R. 118, 119).

Thus it is seen that the defendant testified that *if* a cast has inadequate padding and *if* the swelling is allowed to continue to a point where the tightness "*eventually*" compresses the blood vessels, there will be an impairment of circulation. This is far removed from the interpretation assigned to this testimony by the plaintiff. Plaintiff derives no aid from this testimony, even when it is correctly stated, because plaintiff never proved the padding was inadequate.

Further, in the next portion of the testimony relating to impairment of circulation, which the plaintiff has again quoted out of context at pages 14 and 15 of his brief, the defendant described what might occur in a hypothetical situation where the pressure "is built up to a definite point between the pressure which is in the veins,

which are the vessels returning the blood, and the pressure in the arteries . . .” When that point is reached the defendant said that if the pressure is adequate the venous return of blood will be stopped but the arterial blood will still be going into the tissues (R. 119).

Then, although this fact is omitted from defendant’s answer quoted on page 14 of plaintiff’s brief, the defendant compared the hypothetical situation he had been describing to that which results from the use of a tourniquet and from the use of a variable pressure tourniquet (R. 120). There then ensued a discussion of how long tissue can live when circulation is impaired to the point where there is no return of blood through the veins and from this to an explanation of how long various types of tissue may be expected to live if they are deprived of nutrition (R. 121).

The defendant expressed the opinion that a tourniquet which is pressed so tightly as to shut off the blood supply completely can be left on a lower extremity for a period of two to three hours without impairment of the life of the tissue (R. 121, 122).

For plaintiff to claim, on the basis of this testimony, that the defendant testified that the impairment of circulation within the plaintiff’s cast would begin to destroy tissue after three hours, serves only to demonstrate incontestably that the argument is deceptive and fallacious

and is completely without foundation when the record is read in full and in context.

Of equal stature are the cases cited by plaintiff in support of his argument that this case should have been submitted to the jury. An examination of them reveals no case with facts even remotely similar to those in the case at bar. In some there was expert medical testimony to support the claim of negligence. In others there was indisputable proof that a cast was too tight almost from the time it was in place and dry. In others, because of injury resulting in fractures and destruction of arterial blood vessels, there were additional elements not present in this case.

Typical is plaintiff's reference to the case decided by the Supreme Court of Washington, *Prather v. Downs*, 2 P. 2d 709. In that case the patient had suffered a fracture of the right femur at about the middle third. Other and less serious injuries were suffered at other parts of the right leg. An incision was made in the right thigh, a severed artery was located and the broken ends of the bones were fastened together with metal bands. A cast was placed from the chest to the base of the toes on November 28, 1927. Although "infection developed soon afterwards," nothing was done until December 5, 1927, when a window was cut over that portion of the cast covering the incision. The cast was never split or loosened. A large quantity of pus was seen discharging from the wound. Infection

continued to develop and the following spring the lower right leg was amputated to save the patient's life.

Upon trial, expert witnesses testified concerning the standards of practice and since obvious differences developed about the true condition of plaintiff's leg and since the opinions of the experts were somewhat at variance, the court held it was proper to submit the case to the jury.

Additionally, the evidence showed that the patient's toes extending from the cast became purplish and puffy three or four days after the cast was applied and that the patient developed a fever but despite these manifestations of trouble the defendant surgeon did nothing.

No argument is required to demonstrate the absurdity of plaintiff's contention that his claim is supported by this decision.

Much of plaintiff's argument is devoted to the claim that defendant should have split or removed the cast sooner than he did, or that he should have seen the patient in his office earlier than January 3, 1955, or that he should have taken X-rays or rendered other unspecified treatment in the weeks and months that followed.

No evidence was adduced to show that the standard of orthopedic practice in this area required defendant

to have done anything other than what he did. But, even if such evidence had been produced, there is an additional omission of proof which is fatal to plaintiff's case. There was no proof of proximate cause.

It seems inescapable that medical knowledge, and particularly knowledge of the specialty of orthopedic surgery, is necessary in order to evaluate correctly the progress of a patient following the delicate procedure of triple arthrodesis. Such knowledge and training is also necessary in determining whether the physical factors present show an unexpected or serious complication is developing. If such complications do occur, surely no layman without such knowledge and training, can determine from his own experience when and how and to what extent a cast should be split in order to give relief from the complication and, at the same time, to maintain the exact position of the bones upon which the surgery has been performed.

Neither is lay knowledge and experience sufficient to determine after a cast has been split, whether the physical factors then discernible show that the complication is sufficiently relieved or whether other additional treatment is required. Further, a layman cannot determine from his limited knowledge and experience, what, if any, treatment is required where the edges of a wound break down and an area of necrosis becomes apparent.

Therefore, since the postoperative care and treatment of a patient who has undergone triple arthrodesis involve matters not within common knowledge but within the knowledge of medical men, it follows that there must be some evidence, from medical experts, to enable the jury to determine not only negligence, but what, if any, effect the claimed negligence had upon the end result.

In *Anderson v. Nixon* (1943), 104 Utah 262, 139 P. 2d 216, this Court, in a case involving osteomyelitis, stated:

“Osteomyelitis being a disease the cause and cure of which is peculiarly within the knowledge of medical men and not a matter of common knowledge, it is necessary to have expert testimony on the effect of the negligence of a doctor on the end result. In this case there was no evidence that anything Dr. Nixon did or failed to do after osteomyelitis developed caused the end result. In the absence of such expert testimony there is nothing upon which a jury can base its finding on the proximate cause of the injury. A jury may not conjecture or speculate, but must have substantial evidence upon which to base a verdict. . . .”

This principle has repeatedly been affirmed by this Court. See *Huggins v. Hicken*, 310 P. 2d 523, and cases therein cited.

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